FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/27/2019 3:59 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO	. 968 	397-7
	NO.	76321-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

THOMAS CHARLES BABB,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Bruce I. Weiss, Judge
The Honorable Janice E. Ellis, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

E. RANIA RAMPERSAD Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E. Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. INTRODUCTION

It is undisputed an officer illegally chased, tackled, repeatedly punched and then arrested Mr. Babb. At trial, the parties disputed whether Babb struck the officer during this interaction. The trial court found probable cause to arrest Babb for officer assault and denied his motion to suppress drugs found in his pocket in a search incident to this arrest. The jury convicted Babb of drug possession but acquitted him of the assault, and thereby necessarily found the officer's testimony of assault not credible.

The State undeniably had the remedy to bring Babb to trial for the alleged assault. The question presented by this case is whether the State also gains a benefit—the fruits of the illegal arrest, in the form of the contents of Babb's pockets—as a result of the highly questionable allegation by its officer. This case presents the opportunity to address the outlines of the so-called 'officer assault exception,' and to define its limits to avoid creating an incentive for officers to escalate use of force or manufacture allegations of officer assault in order to gain access to evidence. This case also presents the opportunity to clarify the contours of Washington's new attenuation doctrine, as recently articulated in <u>State v. Mayfield</u>, ____ Wn.3d_____, 434 P.3d 58 (2019); to define what are "unforeseeable intervening circumstances" and whether the State meets its burden of proof where a trial court found probable cause but a jury acquits.

B. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Thomas Babb asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in <u>State v. Babb</u>, 2019 WL 350661, filed January 28, 2019 (Appendix A).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the question, what is an "unforeseeable intervening circumstance" under Washington's narrow attenuation doctrine? It also presents the question, what is the State's burden of proof, and is it met where the trial court found probable cause to arrest for the alleged circumstance, but a jury did not find it beyond a reasonble doubt?

- 1. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the court of appeals conflicts with <u>State v. Mayfield</u>,

 ____ Wn.3d_____, 434 P.3d 58 (2019), requiring the State to meet its burden to prove "unforeseeable intervening circumstances" before admitting evidence under Washington's attenuation doctrine?
- 2. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because it presents a "significant question" of constitutional law under article I, section 7, and presents the opportunity to define the limitations of Washington's newly articulated attenuation doctrine?
- 3. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it presents a question of "substantial public interest," specifically

whether the State may benefit and gain access to otherwise inadmissible evidence following an allegation of officer assault that is later rejected by a jury?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Charges & Defense

The Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office charged Thomas Babb with third degree assault of law enforcement officer Stephen Ross (count I) and possession of heroin, a controlled substance (count II). CP 139.

Babb asserted general denial, as well as self-defense against the assault charge. 1RP 7¹; CP 6.

2. Suppression Hearing

At a pretrial suppression hearing, Babb argued Ross lacked legal authority to seize or arrest him, argued he was lawfully entitled to resist the unlawful arrest, and subsequently obtained evidence of his conduct and evidence of heroine must be suppressed. 1RP 7. The State argued because an officer assault occurred, evidence of both the assault as well as the heroin was admissible, regardless of the legality of the initial seizure. 1RP 51-55.

Babb did not testify and called no other witnesses. 1RP 47-48. The State offered testimony from Officers Ross and Anderson to establish the

 $^{^{1}}$ This petition refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP (11/04/16), 2RP (11/10/16), 3RP (11/14/16-11/17/16), 4RP 12/14/16, 5RP (12/22/16).

following. 1RP 7-47. On January 6, 2016, Ross responded to a dispatch call reporting a "slumper." 1RP 9, 13; CP 4-5. In his experience "slumper" calls generally indicate a person who is unconscious from alcohol, drug use or a medical condition. 1RP 12; CP 4. This call had only very basic information and no indication a crime had been committed. 1RP 27. On scene, Ross observed three firefighters and Babb walking down a flight of stairs. 1RP 28. Babb had a vacant expression, was staggering and was uneasy on his feet. CP 5; 1RP 14. Ross was concerned Babb might be affected by alcohol or drugs. CP 5; 1RP 14. By the time Ross reached them, Babb had reached the foot of the stairs without falling. 1RP 28, 30.

One of the firefighters told Ross, "You need to talk to this guy." 1RP 29; CP 5. Ross also testified, "Someone, I think his stepmom, said he's not supposed to be here." CP 5; see also 1RP 13, 29. The court found this statement came from an unidentified person at the apartment complex and been passed on to Ross via the firefighter. CP 5 (Findings I.10-11).

When Babb reached the bottom of the stairs, he was walking toward the public street. 1RP 30. Babb was carrying a longboard and a backpack. 1RP 15. As Babb was walking past Ross, Ross told Babb he was a police officer and he needed to speak to him. CP 5; 1RP 15. Babb continued toward the street and walked past Ross. CP 5; 1RP 15. Ross testified that had he not stopped Babb, Babb would have continued to walk away with

his back turned to Ross. 1RP 31-32. As Babb continued to walk past, Ross placed his right hand on Babb's shoulder, told him to stop, and told him to put down the longboard and backpack. CP 5-6; 1RP 15.

Ross put down his longboard and backpack and immediately began to run away. CP 6; 1RP 15. Ross began chasing him. CP 6; 1RP 16. Ross testified that as he was running, he told Babb to stop, and stated "Everett Police. You are under arrest." 1RP 16.

Babb ran down the sidewalk and across the street, and attempted to climb a fence. 1RP 16, 17, 34. Ross pulled him down. 1RP 17. Babb "landed face[]down on the ground." 1RP 17. Ross testified he was on top of Babb, Babb's arms were beneath him and he told him to put his arms behind his back. 1RP 18, 19. Ross grabbed Babb's left arm and tried to grab his right arm to put him into handcuffs. 1RP 17. Babb struggled. CP 6; 1RP 18.

Ross testified Babb tried to to roll over and kept his right arm beneath him out of his grasp, and during the struggle, he punched Babb twice in the back. 1RP 18, 20. Babb rolled over and struck Ross on the side of the head. 1RP 20; see also CP 6. Ross punched Babb in the torso, and Babb again struck Ross in the head. 1RP 21; see also CP 6.

Ross then testified he applied his TASER four times, firing one set of two TASER darts into Babb's torso, a second set of TASER darts into

his left leg, and then applying two "drive stuns" with his TASER. 1RP 21. Babb said, "I'm having a seizure" and went limp. 1RP 21, 24.

Ross rolled Babb over and handcuffed him. 1RP 21, 24. Other officers, including Officer John Anderson, arrived on scene to find Babb handcuffed and unresponsive in Ross's custody down by the fence. 1RP 40. They assisted in moving Babb up the hill where the firefighters checked him. 1RP 24, 1, 45. Ross then searched Babb's person and clothing. 1RP 24; CP 6. At some later point, Ross searched Babb's backpack. 1RP 38; CP 6. He found drug paraphernalia in both. 1RP 38; CP 6.

The State argued Ross's initial seizure was a valid investigative detention, or alternatively, community caretaking stop. See 1RP 51-53. The State also argued regardless of seizure's legality, the officer assault made evidence the assault and the heroine admissible. 1RP 53-55. Babb argued the evidence of drugs "flowed as a direct result of that initial illegal detention," and "must be suppressed." 1RP 56.

The trial court concluded Ross illegally seized Babb when he touched his shoulder and told him to stop. 2RP 5-6; CP 7 (Conclusions II.1, 3, 6-9). The court reasoned evidence of assault on a police officer was not subject to suppression, despite an unlawful arrest, and denied suppression of all evidence related to the assault. CP 8 (Conclusion II.9-11); 2RP 6. The court also denied Babb's motion to suppress evidence of drugs. 2RP

7-10 (citing State v. Cormier, 100 Wn. App. 457, 997 P.2d 950 (2000)); CP 8 (Conclusion II.13).

3. Trial Evidence

At trial, the State presented testimony of several officers who responded to the scene, a firefighter, and a forensic scientist, and presented several photographs of Babb and Ross and a baggie of heroin found in Babb's possession.

Ross's testimony was substantially similar to his suppression hearing testimony, with two notable exceptions. At trial, Ross testified that he applied "several" drive stuns, rather than just two. Compare 3RP 133 ("several") with 1RP 21 ("just a couple"). Ross also testified that he was kneeling next to Babb and that "I think -- I wasn't on his back I don't think," as compared to his unequivocal agreement during the suppression hearing that he was "on top of" Babb. Compare 3RP 122 (kneeling) with 1RP 19 (agreed to "on top of").

Ross also testified, and a photograph confirmed, that Babb's alleged strike left no mark on Ross. 3RP 145. A photograph also showed an abrasion on Ross's leg. 3RP 271-72. Ross testified that he believed he had received this scrape during the confrontation with Babb. 3RP 145. Ross also testified he applied a band-aid to his leg himself and did not seek medical attention from anyone. 3RP 196.

Anderson's trial testimony was essentially consistent with his suppression hearing testimony. 3RP 209-230. In addition, both he and another officer testified at trial that they observed Babb's hand bleeding at the scene, as verified by photos of Babb's injuries. 3RP 226-27; 3RP 269-70. Despite Ross's testimony that Babb's hand had struck him on his hat, both Ross and another officer who took pictures at the scene testified that they did not note any blood on Ross's hat. 3RP 205, 273.

A hospital photograph of Babb showed a red mark on his abdomen. 3RP 206. When viewing the photograph during cross-examination, Ross agreed the injury was consistent with a TASER application, and testified because Babb was wearing a t-shirt and moving around, it was "hard to say exactly" where he deployed the TASER. 3RP 206.

The forensic scientist testified that the baggie of drugs found in Babb's possession contained 0.06 grams of heroin. 3RP 250, 252.

4. Closing Arguments

In closing, the State argued the evidence showed Babb intentionally struck Ross. 3RP 317. Babb's real reason for resisting was not a fear of injury, but a desire to avoid arrest. 3RP 316. As a result, Babb was not legally authorized to resist even an unlawful detention or arrest, because all he faced was a loss of freedom. 3RP 318-19. The State also argued Babb's hand injury could have been due to being dragged up the hill, and in any

case, was the result of his own actions of resisting. 3RP 328-29. Finally, the State argued that Ross's story was credible because if fabricated, he would have fabricated a greater degree of injury, or even injured himself to make it appear as if Babb had injured him. 3RP 328.

Babb argued Ross acted illegally by chasing him across the street, grabbing him and pulling him off of the fence, resulting in a cut to his finger, getting on top of him, ordering him to pull his arms out from underneath him, and punching him in the back. 3RP 321. Up to this point, Babb's only actions had been the lawful and non-violent act of running away. 3RP 322, 325. Also, at this point, even if Babb had punched Ross, Babb had already been injured and faced more than a loss of freedom. 3RP 222.

Babb also argued Ross's testimony that a punch even occurred was not credible and not corroborated. 3RP 322-24. Although photos showed Babb's hand bleeding, there was no blood on Ross's hat, his hat had not come off his head, there was no mark, and officers on the scene took Ross at his word, rather than bothering to take a photograph of Ross's head or asking him for more details. 3RP 323-24. Also, Ross's description of the confrontation did not make sense. 3RP 322. Another officer had testified the confrontation occurred at the bottom of a steep slope that went right up to the fence, and had not ended in a flat space of ground as Ross had testified. 3RP 322-23. Babb would have been pinned in between the slope

and the fence, with Ross on higher ground. 3RP 323. For Ross's version of events to be true, Babb would have had to roll up the hill and swing his arm up high enough to strike Ross on the side of his head by the eyebrow, rather than on a lower point such as his chin. 3RP 323.

5. Verdict, Sentence & Appeal

The jury found Babb guilty of possession of a controlled substance, and not guilty of third degree assault. CP 87-88. The court sentenced Babb to 7 days of confinement. CP 21; 5RP 10. Babb timely appealed. CP 15.

6. Appellate Arguments & Decision

On appeal, Babb argued article I, section 7 affords greater protection than Amend. IV, and the court should reject the federal versions of the independent source and attenuation doctrines, and the State's so-called "officer assault exception. Br. App. at 13, 22, 26. Babb also argued the attenuation doctrine could not be applied to his case and remain consistent with art. I, §7, unless it resulted in suppression of evidence seized after his arrest, particularly where such evidence was unrelated to the alleged officer assault. Br. App. at 37, 49.

The State argued the evidence was admissible both because it was obtained after an officer assault and because it was sufficiently attenuated from the initial illegal arrest. Br. Resp. at 3, 7.

The court of appeals held under both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7, evidence of an officer assault is admissible, even where the initial seizure or stop was unlawful. <u>Babb</u>, No. 76321-1-I, slip op. at 4-6. The court essentially formulated and applied its own variation of the attenuation doctrine, and reasoned this case was "a bridge too far." <u>Babb</u>, slip op. at 6-7. The court found a valid arrest for officer assault "breaks the causal chain" and the evidence was admissible. <u>Babb</u>, slip op. at 8.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THIS COURT'S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CONFLICTS WITH WASHINGTON'S NARROW ATTENUATION DOCTRINE AS RECENTLY DEFINED IN STATE V. MAYFIELD.

1. The court of appeals' decision presents a conflict with a published Washington Supreme Court decision under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The court of appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's recent decision in <u>State v. Mayfield</u>, ____ Wn.3d_____, 434 P.3d 58 (2019).

In <u>Mayfield</u>, this Court first outlined Washington's attenuation doctrine. <u>Mayfield</u>, slip op. at 2. The Court explained, "to comply with the heightened protections of article I, section 7, the attenuation doctrine must be narrow and apply only where intervening circumstances have genuinely severed the causal connection between official misconduct and the

discovery of evidence." <u>Id</u>. The Court found that such circumstances did not exist in Mayfield's case, and so suppression was required. <u>Id</u>.

The Court took great pains to distinguish Washington's new attenuation rule from the more expansive federal rule, stating "we recognize a narrow, Washington-specific attenuation doctrine, to be applied only where the State proves that unforeseeable intervening circumstances truly severed the causal connection between official misconduct and the discovery of evidence." <u>Id.</u>, slip. op. at 29

The court of appeals' decision in Babb's case violates this newly articulated rule in two manners. First, it is entirely foreseeable that after being illegally chased down the street, tackled, repeatedly punched in the back, and TASERed, Babb might flail around and strike the officer. Even if this act occurred, which defense does not concede, it is well within the realm of the foreseeable in response to unlawful use of police force. Second, the State did not meet its burden at the suppression hearing to show this event actually occurred. Although the trial court found there was probable cause for the arrest, the jury later acquitted Babb, meaning it did not find the circumstance occurred beyond a reasonable doubt. Even if the State's burden to prove the circumstance is somewhat lower than beyond a reasonable doubt, this burden should be higher than mere probable cause,

in order to satisfy Washington's narrow attenuation doctrine under Mayfield.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), because it affords the Court the opportunity to define the limits of "unforeseeable intervening circumstances" and define the State's burden of proof under Mayfield.

2. This case presents a significant question of State constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

As discussed above, this case addresses the limits of Washington's attenuation doctrine under <u>Mayfield</u>. As such, it presents a significant question of law under Washington's Constitution, article I, section 7, defining searches and seizures in Washington. This case presents the opportunity to define the limits and burdens of proof under this newly articulated framework under Washington's more protective constitution.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In addition to recent case law and the newly articulated rule under Washington's Constitution, this case creates a compelling issue of substantial public interest because it touches on policy considerations that incentivizes police misconduct and excessive use of force.

Here, the State received its proper remedy to the allegation of officer assault; it took Babb to trial on the assault. The State seeks to gain an additional benefit from its officer's misconduct—the contents of Babb's pockets. It is clear from the officer's conduct that the desire to invade Babb's privacy and search him for drugs based on his hunch, was his motivation from the outset of the interaction. Allowing the State to meet its burden under <u>Mayfield</u> with a mere allegation of officer assault, or even a preliminary finding of probable cause, will incentivize officer misconduct.

Here, given the officer's admissions at the pre-trial hearing and during the trial, it is clear Babb was subjected to excessive force. See 1RP 17, 20-21. On the basis of a potential allegation of loitering or drug use, Babb was beaten into unconsciousness, and much of this occurred prior to point in time when Babb allegedly reached behind his back to strike the officer. 1RP 27; CP 5; see also 1RP 13, 21, 24, 29. The reason for this over-the-top use of force is unclear, but includes the possibility, as discussed by Judge Chun during oral argument at the court of appeals, that the officer was escalating the level of violence in an effort to elicit a reaction that would then justify the initially illegal arrest.

While <u>Mayfield</u> points out that an officer's good or reasonable conduct is not a reason to admit evidence under Washington's more protective constitution, the reverse is not true. <u>See Mayfield</u>, slip op. at 28.

While protection of individual privacy rights is our constitution's primary

concern, discouraging police misconduct is still a secondary concern, along

with maintaining the integrity of the judiciary by avoiding reliance on

unlawfully obtained evidence, and both warrant consideration. State v.

Boland, 115 Wn.2d 571, 581-82, 800 P.2d 1112 (1990).

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), and take the

opportunity to define the limitations of Washington's attenuation doctrine

in a manner that will not encourage police misconduct or excessive use of

force against Washington citizens.

F. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, Babb respectfully asks this Court

to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).