FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/29/2019 3:18 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96897-7

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

THOMAS CHARLES BABB,

Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

##

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. SUPPRESSION HEARING

The relevant facts are set out in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on CrR 3.6 Hearing. CP 4-9. Since no error has been assigned to any of these findings, they will be accepted as verities on appeal. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994).

According to the findings, on January 6, 2016, Master Police Officer Steven Ross of the Everett Police Department responded to a "slumper" call. Such a call indicates a medical issue, including a possible drug overdose. When Officer Ross arrived at the scene, he saw the defendant, Thomas Babb. He was coming down the stairs of an apartment with three firefighters. He appeared to be uneasy on his feet and staggering. Officer Ross suspected that the defendant was affected by alcohol or drugs. CP 4-5.

One of the firefighters told Officer Ross, "You need to talk to this guy." Officer Ross accordingly told the defendant that he needed to talk to him. The defendant continued walking. Officer Ross placed his right hand on the defendant's shoulder and told him to stop. He also told the defendant to put down his long board and backpack. The defendant complied, but he then started running away. CP 5-6.

Officer Ross pursued the defendant, caught him, and placed him under arrest for Obstruction. The defendant resisted the arrest. Officer Ross testified that while the defendant was resisting, the defendant hit him with a closed fist. Officer Ross subdued the defendant. In a subsequent search incident to arrest, the officer discovered a controlled substance and drug paraphernalia. CP 6.

At the suppression hearing, Officer Ross explained his reasons for attempting to detain the defendant:

So, since it was a slumper male, groaning, acting funny call, I thought that the guy was probably on drugs or looked like he was on drugs or having medical or maybe mental issues. Then the firefighters told me he was not supposed to be there, I thought he might be trespassing. Since they mentioned a stepmom, I thought that would possible be a domestic situation. There could be a domestic violence protection order or something of that nature.

#### 11/14 RP 14.

When Officer Ross tried to detain the defendant, he fled.

Officer Ross chased him. The defendant ran across a busy street with no regard for traffic. He ran into a grassy area and then started

to climb a fence. Officer Ross grabbed him and pulled him down onto the ground. 11/4 RP 16-17.

Officer Ross tried to place the defendant in handcuffs. "He was trying to pull his left arm out of my grasp and trying to keep his right arm underneath him, which caused me concern that he was trying to retrieve a weapon or something like that." 11/14 RP 18. Officer Ross struck the defendant on the back twice. In response, the defendant struck him on the left side of the head. 11/14 RP 20.

Office Ross used his taser. The defendant said that he was having a seizure and then went limp. Officer Ross placed him in handcuffs and searched him incident to arrest. Other officers arrived and summoned medical aid. 11/14 RP 23-24.

#### B. TRIAL

The defendant was charged with third degree assault and possession of a controlled substance. CP 139. With regard to the defendant's use of force, the jury was given the following instructions:

Bodily injury means physical pain or injury, illness, or an impairment of physical condition.

CP 101, inst. no. 10

Stephen Ross did not have a lawful basis to initially detain Thomas Babb, or to initiate arrest procedures when he contacted Thomas Babb at the fence.

CP 102, inst. no. 11.

A person who is being unlawfully arrested has a right to use reasonable and proportional force to resist an attempt to inflict injury on him or her during the course of the arrest. A person may not use force against the arresting officer if he is faced only with a loss of freedom.

The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the force used by the defendant was not lawful. If you find that the State has not proved the absence of this defense beyond a reasonable doubt, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to the charge of assault in the third degree.

CP 103, inst. no. 12.

The jury found the defendant guilty of possessing a controlled substance but not guilty of assault. CP 87-88. The jury was then asked to decide whether the defendant had proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he had used lawful force. 11/16 RP 342-43. The jury was unable to reach a verdict on that question. 11/17 RP 371-72.

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. THE RESULT REACHED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS IS REQUIRED BY THIS COURT'S DECISIONS ESTABLISHING A "SECOND ARREST" DOCTRINE.

The outcome of this case is dictated by two decisions of this court: State v. Rousseau, 40 Wn.2d 92, 241 P.2d 447 (1952), and State v. Holeman, 103 Wn.2d 426, 693 P.2d 89 (1985). In

Rousseau, the defendant assaulted a police officer who had unlawfully arrested him. This court held that the defendant could lawfully be rearrested for that assault. Evidence found in a search incident to that arrest was admissible to prove a prior burglary. Rousseau, 40 Wn.2d at 96.

Rousseau does not specify whether it reached this result under the state or federal Constitution. At that time, however, there was *no* exclusionary rule under the federal Constitution that was applicable in state courts. Wolf v. Colorado, 338 U.S. 25, 69 S.Ct. 1359, 93 L.Ed. 1782 (1949); see Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961) (overruling Wolf). Prior to 1961, the only exclusionary rule in Washington courts was the rule derived from the state Constitution. See State v. Gibbons, 118 Wash. 171, 188–89, 203 P. 390 (1922) (adopting exclusionary rule under Const., art, 1, § 7). In holding the evidence admissible, Rousseau necessarily applied the state Constitution.

The same result was reached in <u>Holeman</u>. There, police unlawfully entered the defendant's home to arrest him. The defendant's father attempted to prevent this arrest by threatening the officers with a crowbar. The officers arrested the father. The defendant then obstructed his father's arrest and was arrested a

second time. <u>Holeman</u>, 103 Wn.2d at 427-28. Applying article 1, § 7, the court held that the second arrest was lawful. <u>Id.</u> at 429. Consequently, the defendant's second confession was properly admitted into evidence to prove a prior theft. <u>Id.</u> at 431.

The rule established by Rousseau and Holeman is clear. A person who commits a crime in response to an unlawful arrest may be re-arrested for that new crime. Evidence derived from that second arrest may then be used to prove a prior crime. This "second arrest" doctrine does not rest on any "attenuation" analysis. Rather, it rests on the need to prevent violent confrontations that endanger everyone — not only the officers, but innocent bystanders and the arrestee himself. Holeman, 103 Wn.2d at 430.

In the present case, the petitioner argues that evidence derived from the second arrest should be suppressed as fruits of the illegal first arrest. Adopting such a rule would require overruling Rousseau and Holeman.

This court's prior holdings may be rejected on a clear showing that the established rule is incorrect and harmful. Alternatively, the may be rejected on a showing that their legal underpinnings have changed or disappeared altogether. State v.

Otton, 185 Wn.2d 673, 678  $\P$  6, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016). No such showing has been made in the present case.

The petitioner claims that the Court of Appeals holding is inconsistent with <u>State v. Mayfield</u>, 434 P.3d 58 (Wash. 2019). That case recognizes the existence of an attenuation doctrine under article 1, § 7. <u>Mayfield</u>, 434 P.3d at 66-67 ¶ 23. Since the "second arrest" rule does not rest on any attenuation analysis, that case is irrelevant. There is no inconsistency that warrants review.

# B. THE RULE SOUGHT BY THE PETITIONER WOULD REQUIRE EITHER LEGALIZING ASSAULTS ON POLICE OFFICERS OR SUPPRESSING EVIDENCE OBTAIN THROUGH LAWFUL ARRESTS.

In urging this court to reject the rule of Rousseau and Holeman, the petitioner is inconsistent about what should replace it. On the one hand, he argues that his use of force was "well within the realm of the foreseeable in response to unlawful use of police force." PRV at 12. If this court accepted this argument, it would mean that evidence of the assault would be suppressed if the underlying arrest was unlawful. This is what the petitioner argued in both the trial court and the Court of Appeals. In his suppression memorandum in the trial court, he asserted that "[a]II evidence obtained directly or indirectly through the exploitation of an illegal

seizure, including a suspect's post-arrest conduct, must be suppressed." CP 169. At oral argument in the Court of Appeals, counsel asserted that even if a police officer was killed while conducting an illegal arrest, evidence of the murder would be inadmissible. State v. Babb, Oral Argument Recording at 20:56 to 21:35 (October 30, 2018).1

Without acknowledging the inconsistency, the petitioner now claims that the State could properly take him to trial for the assault. P.R.V. at 14. To take someone to trial, however, it is usually necessary to arrest him. When a person is arrested, it is necessary to search him for reasons of officer safety. State v. Byrd, 178 Wn.2d 611, 620 ¶ 17, 310 P.3d 793 (2013). The petitioner is thus claiming that a person can commit a crime, be lawfully arrested for that crime, and be lawfully searched incident to that arrest — but evidence derived from that arrest must then be suppressed. There is no support in Washington law for such a rule.

The petitioner seeks to support his novel argument by speculating about the motives of the arresting officer. P.R.V. at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The recording of the oral argument is available on the Washington Court's website at https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/appellateDockets/index.cfm?fa=appellateDockets.showOralArgAudioList&courtId=a01&docketDate=20181030.

In the trial court, however, he acknowledged that the officer acted in good faith. 11/4 RP 56. Both there and in the Court of Appeals, he argued that good faith was irrelevant. CP 166; Brief of Appellant at 26. This court should not grant review on the basis of factual speculation that is unsupported by any findings.

The petitioner also questions the credibility of the officer's testimony that the assault occurred. At the suppression hearing, the defense did not challenge the credibility of that testimony. Rather, he argued that any assault was the product of an illegal detention. 11/4 RP 56-57. A court's suppression ruling is based on the court's own factual findings, not those that might be later made by a jury. See State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 641 (1994). There is no precedent for the suggestion that a jury acquittal can retroactively render an arrest illegal.

This should especially be true when the jury verdict was at least partially based on an erroneous legal standard. The jurors were instructed that a person who is unlawfully arrested may use force "to resist an attempt to inflict injury on him." CP 103, inst. no. 12. They were further instructed that "bodily injury" includes physical pain. CP 101, inst. no. 10. The jury was thus told that a person who is unlawfully arrested may use force to resist the

infliction of *any* degree of pain. The correct standard is that the person may not resist *any* threatened injury, but only *serious* injury. State v. Bradley, 141 Wn.2d 731, 737-38, 10 P.3d 358 (2000).

This distinction was particularly significant in this case. At the time the petitioner struck the officer, he had already been hit twice in the back. 11/15 RP 123-26. Those blows undoubtedly caused physical pain. The jurors were told that the arrest was unlawful. CP 102, inst. no. 11. Based on their instructions, it is not surprising that at least some jurors believed that the defendant was justified in hitting the officer in order to prevent the infliction of further pain. To reach that conclusion, it was not necessary for them to either disbelieve the officer's testimony or believe that he had used excessive force. Had the jurors been told that a person can only use force to resist *serious* injury, the verdict may well have been different.

The petitioner also exaggerates the force used by the officer. Her claims that that he was "beaten into unconsciousness, and much of this occurred <u>prior</u> to point in time when Babb allegedly reached behind his back to strike the officer." P.R.V. at 14 (petitioner's emphasis). In fact, the testimony shows that before the petitioner struck the officer, the officer struck him on the back twice.

1 RP 19-20. There is no evidence that the petitioner suffered any significant injury from those or any other blows. According to his suppression motion, he was diagnosed at the hospital with taser wounds and a cut on his palm — not any injuries resulting from the officer's blows. CP 160-61.

Ultimately, however, none of this matters. The acquittal on the assault cannot, of course, be reviewed. The trial court's ruling on the suppression motion must be based on the evidence at the suppression hearing and the court's findings. Under those findings, the officer lawfully arrested the defendant for assaulting him in the course of resisting arrest. CP 4-9. If the officer used excessive force after that point, it could be grounds for a civil lawsuit — but it does not invalidate the arrest or the subsequent search.

Under this court's precedents, the Court of Appeals correctly held that evidence obtained in a search incident to a lawful arrest was admissible at trial. That holding does not warrant review.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.